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The great American drama is the clash of adolescence with middle age.

—Frank McCourt, Teacher Man

I’m not sure if music got a future. We have all these electronic ways to download and steal music and get music, but there’s no money in makin’ music. That money’s startin’ to dry up. So what’s gonna happen in twenty years, twenty-five years, when the new artists of the day are all, “There ain’t no money in music, so I’ma go use my creative talents to do something else”? World never hears of great talent, because it’s all dried up. Now what are you gonna put on your iPod? Now what are you gonna download, when there’s nobody making music?

—Ice Cube, interviewed by Nathan Rabin for
The Onion’s A.V. Club, January 16, 2008



PROLOGUE

The Opening Bell


Wednesday, May 11, 2005

Edgar Bronfman Jr. is famous for two things; one annoying and the other unforgivable. The annoying thing is that though he was born rich as Croesus, he has opted to work hard every day. The unforgivable thing is that he managed to lose $3 billion while doing so.

Today is the first day of public trading in the stock of the Warner Music Group (WMG), the troubled recording and music publishing company that Bronfman purchased a little over a year ago from Time Warner with a group of private equity investors. As the new company’s chairman and CEO, Edgar is here to ring the exchange’s opening bell. He is also here to get back some of his money and all of his pride by becoming the man who saved the embattled music business.

The record industry has become the canary in the internet coal mine. It is the first commercial medium to feel the gale force of cyberspace, and the entire business, including the Warner Music Group, has been blown off its foundation. The industry faces the most basic questions about its future–not just how it will price, distribute, and control its product in the digital era, but whether it even has a future in a world remade by file trading and rife with free digital copies of virtually any recording. Indeed, no one can say with certainty that artists and performers will continue to need or even want record companies. Because of the internet, all bets are off. Warner is literally in a fight for its life.

Despite a well-known passion for the entertainment business, Edgar is a most unlikely candidate for savior. The heir to the Seagram liquor fortune, he skipped college to pursue a career as a theater and film producer, and when he followed his father and grandfather as the chairman of the family-controlled and publicly traded company, he acted on those interests and recast the liquor giant as an entertainment company. In 1995, he purchased MCA, and then two record companies, Interscope and PolyGram. The controversial strategy split the Bronfman family into warring factions and polarized Wall Street, where investors who had liked Seagram for its regular dividends decried the moves, and those who predicted the internet would bring new value to intellectual property, like films and recordings, embraced them. The debate became moot when Edgar orchestrated one deal too many by merging with France’s would-be media giant Vivendi, a decision that quickly reduced the family empire–and its shareholder value–to rubble.

The Vivendi disaster was as high-profile a humiliation as any businessman not sent to prison is likely to endure. The normally circumspect New York Times crowned Bronfman “Wall Street’s favorite whipping boy.”

Edgar claims the failed venture barely scuffed the Bronfman fortune. “The story that’s told is that I squandered the family money,” he says. “I made all the money I squandered.” That could very well be: estimates by Fortune and Canadian Business still place the family’s fortune somewhere north of $5 billion. But Seagram was a powerful vehicle for the Bronfmans’ wealth and influence and part and parcel of their identity–and it vaporized in his hands. Without the freedom and extraordinary clout that comes with controlling your own empire, Bronfman’s just another guy with money, and in the Warner deal he is a minority partner. Edgar has come down in the world, and everybody he deals with knows it. He is like Dylan’s Napoleon in rags–stripped of not just his army but also his mystique. The Warner Music Group is how he will get back up. When he succeeds, it will be sweet revenge and a rehabilitation as public as his downfall. Except this isn’t a slam dunk.

Bronfman is wagering that a reinvention and turnaround isn’t up for grabs but an eventuality. In his view, the downloading and the explosion in freely traded music that shrank worldwide CD sales from $38 billion in 1999 to $33.6 billion in the five years before he purchased the Warner Music Group can be turned into a money fountain by creating new internet products that are superior to free music files. When asked if record companies can get the genie back in the bottle, Bronfman holds up a bottle of water. “Why do people buy this when they can get water for free? The same is going to be true of music. There will be advantages, points to pay for such as being virus-free, reasonably priced, and a better product.” He says that time will prove he picked up Warner’s music publishing and recorded music holdings for a song. “I wrote my check because I believe these libraries will be fundamentally revalued, just as video did for TV and film,” he has been telling potential investors. “Cell phones, iPods–I think it all cuts very favorably for a company like ours.”

That’s hardly the way things have played out so far. The internet storm caught the record business off guard, and in no way has it exhibited the fortitude, imagination, or strategic planning needed to adapt to the new and evolving environment. Its best managers have the skills to find, record, and promote music–and that’s all. Edgar will have to change that.

Bronfman doesn’t consider himself a record executive so much as a special breed of money man. Whatever mistakes he made at Seagram, Edgar has learned to read between the lines of a balance sheet as well as his equity partners, and he knows enough about the quirks of the music business to be expected to make good hires and thoughtful investments. He’s a manager and investor with an understanding and passion for both the art and commerce of music who is prepared to lead the search for a new way of doing business by being the bridge between the financial world and the record executives–the heart between the head and the hands. For WMG to survive, he has to assemble and direct a team of executives who can be more than traditional record men.

To lead the record operation, he has chosen Lyor Cohen, the former president of Def Jam Records. Cohen is a controversial choice considering the difficult challenges Warner Music faces. He became rich and successful by mastering the old and increasingly irrelevant industry system that rewards executives for chart success and market share, but he is neither wildly creative nor an iconoclast in the mold of Def Jam’s two other well-known executives, Rick Rubin and Russell Simmons. He isn’t tech-savvy enough to program his own smart-phone, let alone craft an internet delivery system for music. What he is, is intimidating and rapacious, and he has created exceptionally focused and effective labels. But Bronfman is betting that Lyor’s hunger for power, recognition, and more money, and his willingness to do anything to win, makes him the man for the job.

The Warner Music Group’s recent past is as dismal as Bronfman’s. The company he and his partners have brought to market is not the same one that launched the careers and hits of Buffalo Springfield, the Doors, Cream, Led Zeppelin, Joni Mitchell, the Eagles, Fleetwood Mac, Prince, and Madonna. Time Warner ceased caring about the record business ten years ago and embarked on a strategy that practically halved the company’s market share from 25 percent to 13 percent, and in the United States it dropped from first place to fourth. It was a stark contrast to the glory days of the 1960s when the Warner Music Group–comprised of the Atlantic, Elektra, and Warner Bros. labels–became the gold standard of the music business and powered the rise of Steve Ross’s wide-ranging media empire, Warner Communications, Inc. Time Warner chairman Gerald Levin inherited that marketing might and extraordinary catalog of popular American recordings from Ross but didn’t have the slightest interest in them. As far as Levin was concerned, cable television was the only business that could raise the company’s share price. When conservative politicians criticized popular music, the company became fearful for its cable licenses and knuckled under, selling its hottest record label. By the time Bronfman and his partners came along in the fall of 2003, Time Warner was buckling under the crushing debt incurred by Levin’s horrendous merger with AOL, and the record company had devolved into a caricature of itself. Unloading the music division, long the right thing to do given the company’s lack of interest or commitment, became the only option left.

The financing was neat and clever. Bronfman and his partners put up half of the $2.6-billion purchase price and borrowed the rest. After today’s IPO, they will have used a combination of bonds, extensive layoffs, roster cuts, and the stock offering to recoup all of their own money. They will also still own 75 percent of the company and have unfettered control of its board. All in all, an excellent return on a year’s work.

Bronfman is unlikely to get much credit, since his partners are three of the country’s best regarded private equity funds: Thomas H. Lee Partners, Bain Capital, and Providence Equity Partners. The respective heads of Bain and Providence, John Connaughton and Jonathan Nelson, have seats on the Warner Music Group board but their involvement is largely passive. The big-money player and boardroom force at the Warner Music Group is Lee Partners, and Tom Lee and his managing director, Scott Sperling, were key in making and structuring the deal along with Bronfman. At the end of today they’ll still own 38 percent of the company. Bronfman, by comparison, controls just 12 percent.

Lee, sixty-one, has generally shared Wall Street’s aversion to the record industry, so his involvement with Bronfman is something of a surprise. His A-list fund also owns American Media, publisher of the supermarket tabloids the Star and the National Enquirer, but he isn’t viewed as an entertainment industry player. The deal that solidified his reputation and fortune was his purchase of the beverage company Snapple for $135 million in 1997, which he sold two years later to Quaker Oats for $1.7 billion. A few months before acquiring Warner Music Group, a Bronfman-led group that included Lee Partners failed to buy Universal Studios and their record company back from Vivendi.

Sperling is the Lee partner with an interest in the music business, going back to his days booking concerts as a Purdue undergraduate. After taking an MBA at Harvard, Sperling became a manager of the Aeneas Group, the fund that handled a quarter of Harvard’s then $5-billion endowment. There, he learned what a crap shoot entertainment can be. Aeneas’s $8-million investment in TriStar Pictures became $30 million when Sony bought the company; its $5-million bet on Avenue Entertainment, the company that produced Robert Altman’s hit film The Player but still went bankrupt, was a total loss.

If Bronfman is to remain CEO he’s going to have to keep Lee and Sperling happy–and they’re not giving him a very long leash. Sperling responded to press questions about Bronfman’s role by publicly putting him on notice. “The deal with Edgar is he does a good job or someone else comes in to do a good job,” Sperling said.

That will require more than just getting the financing right with Warner Music, and more than getting the company back on its feet. If he wants to prove that his steadfast belief in the continuing value of entertainment had him on the right road when he crashed with Vivendi, Bronfman will have to be right about the value of music copyrights in an age when perfect replicas of recordings can be made and traded virtually for free.

It is difficult to divine how his prior failure has affected Edgar. Just two weeks shy of his fiftieth birthday, he is as languid and patrician as a French king. A lifetime of extraordinary wealth has made him skilled at keeping others at arm’s length, and he exudes the lack of doubt characteristic of people who are used to running things. Still, he can be disarmingly unpretentious in conversation, a mensch. Yet something is there in his voice and in the sharp darting of his eyes when the subject of his reputation is raised. Beneath the ingrained good manners and the practiced calm, Edgar Bronfman Jr. is seething. He’s here to prove he’s no one’s whipping boy.

The longer Bronfman and his team are running Warner Music, the more obvious the limits of their power to affect the future become. For starters, Warner Music doesn’t have the expertise to develop or dictate online technology. Edgar can only react, using his rights as a copyright owner to pick who the company will fight or support from among an endless parade of new music applications and models. “The days of the record industry dictating formats to the consumer are gone, and they’re not coming back,” Bronfman admits.

Even if they do find systems and services they like, it’s not clear that Edgar can get the whole industry to move with him–and Warner Music doesn’t have the market share to force its will on anyone. Bracketed by antitrust laws on one side and competitive distrust on the other, the major record companies have rarely been able to develop a unified strategy for even the smallest issue, so coming to a consensus on something as momentous as the internet may be impossible. That’s particularly bad news. While the majority of consumers say they are willing to pay for music, the fact is they don’t have to, and the industry, steadily contracting for the last five years, now appears to be on the brink of free-fall as the all-important younger music fans rapidly lose the habit of owning recordings; they see music as both ubiquitous, and free. Time is not on his side, and Bronfman may find he has little choice but to try to force-feed his competitors a cocktail of common sense and fear.

Bronfman’s first order of business at Warner Music was to trim the staff by 10 percent and the roster by 30 percent, but there’s nothing in the current music market to suggest that it has hit bottom. The steady erosion in CD sales recently bankrupted Tower Records, the high-profile, full-catalog superstores that carried virtually everything the record labels manufactured; the country’s largest record chain, the 1,300-store Musicland, appears to be right behind them.

The weakening industry faces one more major challenge: because contracts have always apportioned the lion’s share of profits to the labels, artists could be less inclined to sign with them as their marketing prowess–and financial clout–declines. Each day it becomes increasingly obvious that artists who were once the backbone of the company, like Eric Clapton–who became a guitar god during a forty-year career on the Atlantic and Warner Bros. labels and generated hundreds of millions of dollars for them–probably wouldn’t sign if he were starting now. “I think it’s finished, I think it’s had its day,” remarked Clapton of the record business not long after the Warner IPO. “I don’t know where it’s going, and I don’t care.”

Edgar is well aware of the problems. He’s glad to have former Led Zeppelin guitarist Jimmy Page on hand to perform as part of the opening bell ceremony, even if the sixty-two-year-old rocker wasn’t the first choice. The company had hoped Linkin Park, a popular young hard-rock group, would play, but the week before the IPO the group released a statement condemning the company as cynical and correctly pointing out that virtually all of the offering’s potential $750 million will be used to pay back investors, with only $7 million earmarked for operations and none for artists. Calling the company “weakened,” they announced that they intended to leave Warner Bros. Records.

Bronfman responded by saying that Linkin Park still owes Warner Bros. several albums and wasn’t going anywhere. “The joy of this business is that you have long-term assets,” he told potential investors. “But those assets do tend to talk back to you. Linkin Park is a big act with a long-term contract and this is just a negotiating situation.” Bronfman has made clear to the band that Warner might be willing to improve their contract–depending, of course, on what additional products and rights Linkin Park is willing to give in return–but management, and not the artists or their handlers, will decide how the company spends money. Behind closed doors Linkin Park’s public gambit is viewed as poorly conceived and amateurish. “They immediately fired all their bullets,” Lyor Cohen remarked dismissively. “What are they going to do now? Throw the gun at us?”

These are the issues awaiting Bronfman. But today proves that he and his partners were smart enough to acquire control of a company worth north of $2.6 billion by laying out half of that amount for just a year. The twenty-four hours leading up to this morning have been brutal: a breakfast meeting in Baltimore, a phoner with potential investors from the car on the way to a Philadelphia lunch, and a final road show stop in Radnor, Pennsylvania. Then it was a 3:30 helicopter back to New York to meet with lead underwriter Goldman Sachs to fix the stock price.

Word on the street yesterday was that the book was weak–that there weren’t a lot of takers at Goldman’s projected offering range of $22 to $24 a share. It was a perception guaranteed to drive the striking price down. While disappointing, it wasn’t unexpected, and when Bronfman got on the helicopter in Radnor, it looked like the deal was coming together at $18–a significant reduction, but something he’d considered in advance and deemed livable. But by 4:00 even that was suspect.

It had been another down day in a lackluster market, and the New York Stock Exchange closed off 109 points. Worse, DreamWorks Animation, a well-received entertainment industry IPO when it debuted just a few months earlier, had chosen that day to announce it would not make its projected numbers for the quarter–a cold shower sure to send a shiver through an entertainment offering like WMG. Most ominous, Bronfman could sense that the usual grumbling about private equity offerings had begun to turn nasty in the face of an uncertain market. More and more of the portfolio managers he spoke with on the road show were feeling abused, and it was becoming harder to sell an equity stock flip. Suddenly the question before Goldman Sachs and the rest of the underwriters wasn’t just how low Bronfman and his partners were willing to price the IPO. It was, had they mistimed it? Should they pull the IPO and hope for an improved market?

In the end, no one balked. Lee and the rest of the partners agreed to trim the offering back to 27.2 million by foregoing plans to sell 5.4 million shares of their own holdings, a move that would have put $93 million in their pockets. It was a disappointment but hardly a defeat, and they told Goldman Sachs to lock the deal at $17 per share. Looked at in another light, cutting the stock offering by holding their own shares felt like a no-brainer. Though WMG was almost certain to trade down on its first day, they were all betting that the stock was eventually going up. Having completely recouped their investment in WMG, Edgar and his partners were in no hurry to sell more stock at $17.

At 9:25, Jimmy Page, looking puffy-eyed but as well coiffed and suspiciously smooth-skinned as a Palm Beach widow on the make, is tuning his guitar when Edgar and his wife, Clarissa, along with Tommy Lee, Lyor Cohen, and several other senior WMG executives, join him in the gallery overhanging the trading floor. At 9:29, Page cranks up the volume on a stack of amplifiers, stands on a chair, and launches into “Whole Lotta Love,” windmilling his arms and grinning down at the floor traders hooting and cheering him on. Edgar bobs his head stiffly and, at precisely 9:30, rings the opening bell. Thirty seconds later Page tosses his pick over the rail to the traders as if they are the girls in the front row at Madison Square Garden. As Bronfman had expected, WMG marks its first day as a public company by trading down and closing at $16.17. The next day the Toronto Globe and Mail, the leading newspaper in the country where the Bronfmans first made their fortune, declares the WMG deal just one more example of Edgar Bronfman Jr.’s imbecility.

It’s the usual verdict. Bronfman is a dilettante, too dumb and ungrateful to just clench his teeth and hang on to that silver spoon. But he is neither naïve nor ungrateful. Bronfman has never scorned his family or cursed his incredible good fortune. On the contrary, Edgar is delighted to have been born rich. He just doesn’t accept his birth as the sum total of his life. In a poor man, that’s admirable; in a billionaire, it’s risking the winning hand. Yet Bronfman can’t help himself, and it’s not because he is a fool with a fortune but because he’s fortune’s fool, put on the spot by history. The business he needs to measure himself in isn’t the same carefree dream factory he fell in love with as a young man, but a battered industry taking the brunt of a new century’s cataclysmic shift in technology and commerce. Whether he really has the tools to reinvent it and point the way for other media is a question for the future. How the fates of Bronfman and the Warner Music Group came to be intertwined, and why Edgar needs to risk so much, can only be found in the past.



1
Family Business, or the Tale of Two Edgars


Edgar Bronfman Jr. has always been an enigma to the music business. When he bought MCA in 1995–which he would use to build Universal Music into the world’s largest record company–people in the record industry noted that he didn’t conform to stereotype. He was neither a “killer,” the cutthroat executive who’d chewed his way through everyone ahead of him on the corporate ladder, nor a “real record man,” the romanticized and no less Machiavellian music maven with a feel for the street and the will and raw ego to transform a lifelong obsession with music into a commercial empire cut in his own image. “I’m not sure what he brings to the table,” one second-generation record executive said dismissively at the time. “He’s not book smart and he’s not street smart.”

In 1955, the year Edgar was born, his family’s liquor empire, Seagram, supplied one of every three drinks sold in the United States. His father, Edgar Sr., is the only person to have made the Forbes list of America’s five hundred wealthiest individuals every year since its inception, and his mother, Ann, is a Loeb, of the historic Wall Street investment bank Kuhn, Loeb & Company. Home for young Edgar was a duplex penthouse at 740 Park Avenue, the celebrated building where Jacqueline Onassis grew up and Time Warner founder Steve Ross owned a thirty-two-room penthouse. On the weekends, Edgar swam and played tennis at the family’s Georgian-style mansion in Purchase, New York, and played with the other wealthy Jewish children at the Century Club. Once asked what it was like to grow up a Bronfman, Edgar laughed. “It’s terrific. I thoroughly recommend it.”

Being a Bronfman hadn’t always been such a great deal. In 1888, Edgar’s great-grandfather, Yechiel, a Bessarabian miller and tobacco farmer, fled a pogrom with his family to become part of what proved an unsuccessful Jewish agrarian community in Wapella, Saskatchewan. Yechiel grubbed for work in the frontier towns dotting the western lines of the Canadian Pacific Railway. There, along with his oldest sons, Abe and Harry, he sold scrap wood in the summer and frozen whitefish in the winter.

According to family legend, the Bronfmans discovered the liquor business through the circuitous route of trading horses. It was a tradition to seal those deals with a drink–and usually the only place to do that was the bar in the small hotel that marked each railroad town. The Bronfman boys saw that dispensing drinks was a better deal than buying them and cobbled together the money for a small hotel in Emerson, Manitoba. It proved a good idea: by World War One they owned hotels in Yorkton, Saskatchewan, as well as in Port Arthur and Winnipeg, the latter managed by a younger brother, Sam, who was just twenty-two. The last son born in Russia, Sam engineered the Bronfmans’ almost inconceivable change of fortune, moving them in one generation from the shtetl to the castle. Faced with lifelong accusations that their hotels had been little more than brothels, the rapacious and unapologetic Sam would declare, “If they were, then they were the best in the West!” When Canadian prohibition hit in 1916, the Bronfmans gave the first indication that they were a business family to be reckoned with.

Their economic salvation lay buried in a loophole of Canadian law. When the country went dry, each province determined the specifics of prohibition within its borders, while the federal government retained control over sales between provinces–which remained legal. Unable to sell alcohol in their hotels, the Bronfmans moved into the mail-order liquor business and opened warehouses around the country for the sole purpose of using the federal provision to ship whisky from province to province. And when World War One rationing later banned alcohol sales for any but medicinal purposes, the Bronfmans obtained drug wholesaling licenses and sold their wares to drugstores. In the end, the brief-lived Canadian prohibition proved a boon to the Bronfmans, a tune-up for what was to come in the United States.

By the time of the Volstead Act in 1920, the Bronfmans had ware-houses–“boozoriums”–in small border towns from British Columbia to Ontario, where Americans could purchase all the liquor they wanted legally. It was a rough-and-tumble business, and a Bronfman brother-in-law managing several of the warehouses was shotgunned to death by bootleggers in 1922.

Harry, who ran the business, had a ready supply of Canadian and Scotch whisky but saw a chance for the family to do even better by making its own. The Bronfmans’ first forays into distilling were reputedly nothing more than rotgut: four parts water, one part pure grain alcohol, a few gallons of someone else’s good whisky for flavor, a touch of caramel for color, and a dash of sulfuric acid for a little kick and the illusion of age. The famous aged Scotch whiskies Glenlivet (which the Bronfmans would eventually own) and Johnnie Walker inspired the family’s fake brands–finger-numbing two-day wonders “Johnny Walker” and “Glen Levitt.” They were a howling success. And though hardly alone in the perfectly legal business of selling alcohol in Canada to Americans, they were far and away the most aggressive. They would one day agree to a settlement with Canadian and American tax authorities amounting to a de facto admission to having provided 50 percent of all whisky smuggled in from Canada.

In 1924, the Bronfmans purchased the shuttered Greenbrier Distillery near Louisville, Kentucky, tore it down, and shipped the equipment to Montreal, where they built a new distillery in Ville LaSalle on the St. Lawrence River. Two years later they started Distillers Corporation Ltd. as a partnership with the Distillers Company Ltd. of Great Britain–then the world’s largest distiller–and became the exclusive Canadian agents for many of the world’s best Scotches. In 1928, they purchased Ontario’s Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, a small distiller with a good reputation. In one of their most prescient moves, the Bronfmans held back their best and better-aged liquor and sold parched Americans such now-forgotten beverages as Chickencock (sold in a can), stockpiling their superior distillations against the day Prohibition would be repealed and consumers could afford to be more selective. More than any other, this move made the Bronfman fortune. When Prohibition ended in 1933, Seagram was sitting on 3 million gallons of aged and select whisky. Overwhelming their competitors, they bought US distillers, brands, and distributors, and by 1938 claimed to be the leading company in the US spirits market.

Throughout much of Prohibition, Sam and Harry had each held 30 percent of the company. But Harry found himself indicted on various bootlegging and related bribery charges. He eventually beat them, but the publicity–particularly regarding his flair for convincing key witnesses of the financial merits of moving beyond the reach of the courts–made him a less-than-ideal candidate to head the rapidly expanding and increasingly respectable company now known as the Distillers Corporation–Seagram’s, Ltd. As Sam made the company more and more his own, he would present his brothers and sisters with a succession of revised share plans, until he personally held 37.5 percent out of the family’s 51 percent stake in the company. At that point, he and Allan, the youngest brother and Seagram’s attorney, were the only ones retaining significant shares and input–and Sam always made sure Allan knew the score. “The business is mine,” Sam told him. “You must understand that the words ‘we’ and ‘us’ no longer apply.”

Taking over, Sam–or Mr. Sam, as he was now called by his employees and associates–concentrated on expanding the business in the United States and treating himself like a pasha. He acquired a chauffeured Rolls-Royce and moved the family to Westmount, the English-speaking suburb that most of Montreal’s affluent Jews called home. There, Sam and Allan occupied adjacent mansions at the top of Mount Royal. Sam usually spent his weeks in New York, traveling back and forth to Montreal by private sleeper car on Friday and Sunday nights. His apartment at the St. Regis Hotel–which he kept for thirty years–was the largest in the hotel and boasted an oak-paneled living room, a library, three bedrooms, a full kitchen, a maid’s room, and two butler’s pantries.

Nursing an irrational fear that Prohibition could return, Sam strived to make drinking as respectable as possible. Seagram urged consumers to drink moderately and following World War Two, made several prestigious European purchases, including both Perrier-Jouët and Mumm’s champagne, cognac maker Augier Frères, and the highly successful wine shipper Barton & Guestier. But Sam’s greatest feel was for marketing and selling whisky, and he was justly proud of his creation and launch of the company’s two premium whisky blends, Crown Royal and Chivas Regal. He acquired the Aberdeen-based Chivas Brothers for £80,000, intent on making the small, well-regarded distiller into the greatest name in blended Scotch whisky. Crown Royal, packaged in its signature purple jewelry bag, was a triumph of marketing and likely Sam’s greatest moment as a liquor executive. It commanded top dollar and for more than twenty years had no real competitors.

Despite the newfound wealth, Mr. Sam spent much of his adult life and large chunks of his fortune in a fruitless attempt to deny his past and wash away the stain of bootlegging. Driven by a near maniacal need for acceptance, he falsely claimed to have been born in Canada, affected an English accent, and became a devout Anglophile. He gave millions of dollars to both the Liberal and Conservative parties in a vain quest for one of Canada’s ceremonial senate seats. When he attempted to join such exclusive Montreal institutions as the Mount Royal Club, he was rebuffed with a potent cocktail of anti-Semitism and elitist disdain for the way the arriviste Bronfmans had made their formidable fortune. Unwelcome in society, he grew dictatorial in the world that he could control, erecting a cult of personality in which he was all things Seagram: master blender, marketing genius, infallible corporate titan. In order to avoid inheritance taxes, Sam and Allan had jointly placed their 3.3 million shares of Seagram stock into trust for their children through Seco Investments, a holding company with two parts: Cemp–for the 2.2 million shares for Sam’s children Charles, Edgar, Minda, and Phyllis–and Edper, which held the 1.1 million shares of Allan’s sons, Edward and Peter. However, Sam made sure that his majority share in Seco gave him the right to vote all of its stock and subsequently used his absolute control over his brother’s shares to bar Edward and Peter from coming to work at Seagram. Finally, in 1960, Sam announced that he wanted to buy 600,000 of Edper’s 1.1 million shares–at a discount, of course. His nephews agreed, partly out of a perceived threat that Sam would strip their father of his Seagram vice presidency if they refused. Over the next few years they earned a measure of revenge by unloading all of their Seagram shares and launching an investment and real estate empire of their own.

Tyrannical and abusive, Sam would berate employees, his favorite all-purpose sobriquet “cocksucker” applied continuously and without prejudice to salesmen, lawyers, board members, and secretaries–and even at the dinner table until his wife, Saidye, shamed him into silence. “Cocksucker,” she mused. “Isn’t that a charming word? Cock-sucker. I’m going to learn to use that.” His greatest vitriol was aimed at his younger brother, Allan, whose acquiescence to being abused only seemed to provoke him further. Sam once threw an ashtray at Allan’s head during a meeting. When Mr. Sam’s longtime attorney and advisor, Lazarus Phillips, was offered Sam’s coveted seat as Canada’s token Jewish senator by the Liberals, Sam went berserk. After three decades as the Bronfmans’ go-between, deal maker, and consigliere, Phillips found himself cut dead by Sam, who now described the man who was arguably Canada’s most sophisticated barrister and deal maker of the day as “a two-bit lawyer–I made him a millionaire.”

In front of his children he was never seen in less than a jacket and tie, even on the hottest summer Saturday. “Next to my father,” his eldest son, Edgar Sr., would later say, “Queen Victoria looked like a swinger.” Growing up in the Westmount mansion was torture for Edgar. Slaves to their father’s WASP pretensions, kept at arm’s distance by their mother, the four Bronfman children were placed under the care and tutelage of European governesses and nannies until they were old enough to go to boarding school. Contact with their parents was limited to two weekend meals for which they were required to dress, and Saturday evenings were set aside for “Life Lessons,” Mr. Sam’s lectures on how to work hard and carry oneself in the world.

Edgar loved his father, but he neither liked nor trusted him. “One thing I never saw Father do was give a compliment,” he said. He never forgot watching his father curse out Allan in the middle of an annual shareholders’ meeting or throw a glass of ice water at him during a lunch. Regarding Sam’s treatment of Lazarus Phillips, Edgar recalled, “The language Father used to describe a man whom he had often called his best friend was beyond foul,” leading him to the conclusion that “this man could turn on anyone–meaning me. Consciously or subconsciously, I lived with this all my life. The idea that I was only conditionally loved was reinforced by what I observed of Father’s conduct toward others.”

Miserable, Edgar was less than warm and considerate toward others. In a story his mother liked to tell, one of Sam’s business associates, Julius Kessler, discovered that Edgar was impressed with his pocket watch and promised to give it to Edgar as a bar mitzvah present. The boy shook his head: “You’re an old man and you might be dead by the time my bar mitzvah comes around,” he said. “You better give it to me now.”

“My father was an empire builder,” Edgar once said. “And, true to the customs of his times, the emperor needed a male heir. As the first son, I was destined to be that heir. In truth, Sam Bronfman wanted a clone.” Sadly, what Edgar didn’t want, his oldest sister, Minda, craved. Tough-minded and temperamental, she was the child most capable of standing up to their father, for she was most like him, and probably best suited to be his successor. But such a role was unimaginable for a girl–least of all any daughter of Mr. Sam. With no future in Montreal, she moved to Paris and became a baroness. Over the years, both before and after her father’s death, Minda made repeated attempts to become more active in Seagram business. Each effort was rebuffed.

Once he left home, Edgar grew ever more rebellious. At Waspy Williams College, where his main interests were drinking and chasing coeds, he briefly became engaged to an Irish girl in a bald attempt to anger his parents. A string of drunk driving accidents culminating in a motorcycle crash brought him back to Montreal. There, he saw Ben Raginsky, a psychotherapist Sam and Saidye had previously hired to explain the facts of life to Minda and Phyllis. Seemingly ready to accept that there might ultimately be more positives than negatives in being a Bronfman, Edgar completed his education at McGill and in the summer of 1951 went to work at Seagram.

While he accepted Seagram as his life, he still longed to be somewhere other than Montreal and spent as much time as possible in New York. It was there, filling in for his brother, Charles, on a date, he met Ann Loeb, daughter of the investment banker John Loeb, and the two soon decided to marry. Sam, who had repeatedly counseled his sons not to waste any time dating poor girls, was delighted with such a responsible match. The bride’s family was just as pleased: at the wedding reception, John Loeb quipped, “Now I know what it feels like to be the poor relation.”

Spending the summer of ’53 in New York, Edgar studied at the elbow of his father-in-law’s colleague Sam Steadman. A partner at Loeb, Rhoades & Co., Steadman pursued the then-unorthodox strategy of evaluating companies on their potential rather than their current asset value. Edgar returned to Montreal in the fall for a year in his father’s office before taking command of the US company. It was a role that some Seagram executives–and his own mother–believed him unsuited for.

Edgar himself was deeply ambivalent about his career at Seagram. On one hand, he harbored a grudge over having to become his father’s successor, yet he was eager to prove himself capable of running the company should his father ever let him. Still, Edgar bristled at any challengers, real or perceived. Whatever shame he felt over his father’s despicable treatment of his uncle and cousins, the notion that they should even think there was a place for them at Seagram could set him off. Like a jealous prince, he ruminated on who among his father’s aides and executives would get to stay–and who would taste the axe.

The transformation of Seagram from its opportunistic, wild-and-wooly beginnings into a respectable international corporation drove Sam in his later career. He crafted an image for the company that bore little relation to its roots. The new company motto implied a storied past: “Integrity, Craftsmanship, Tradition.” By the mid-fifties, the future of the company was in New York, not Montreal. When Seagram planned its new corporate headquarters on Park Avenue, Mr. Sam envisioned something in the moat-and-drawbridge school, but his younger daughter, Phyllis Bronfman Lambert, persuaded him to make what she characterized as a more “significant” statement. Given free rein, she hired the already legendary architects Ludwig Mies van der Rohe and Philip Johnson. Today, the Seagram building at Park Avenue and Fifty-second Street is considered one of the greatest buildings of the twentieth century. It was a triumph for Seagram and the Bronfmans–and further proof of just how much family talent Mr. Sam had overlooked when he anointed Edgar over his daughters.

When Edgar assumed the presidency of the US distiller in November 1957, he was nowhere near as involved in the day-to-day running of the company as his father had been. “I don’t much like details and I’m not really suited to being a hands-on operating executive,” he admitted. “I’m better at laying out long-term strategy.”

Sating the old man’s ego was nearly impossible, but Edgar was audacious enough to succeed occasionally. When Ann was expecting the couple’s first child, Edgar told his father that he wanted to name his first son for him. It was a startling suggestion: Sam was far from a religious man, but the gesture flaunted Jewish tradition. “My husband was well aware that in Orthodox Jewish tradition a child is not supposed to be named after a living person,” Saidye said. “He sat perfectly silent and he didn’t say a word. Later, when we went upstairs to bed, he confessed that he was very pleased but was so taken aback by what Edgar had proposed that he simply didn’t know what to say. He mulled it over and next morning, with a twinkle in his eyes, gave the children his consent.” Sam didn’t remain abashed for long: when Minda named her second child Charles Samuel, he tried unsuccessfully to have the boy’s name changed legally to Samuel Charles.

The family trust, Cemp, also gave Edgar Sr. an opportunity to show his savvy, particularly when he steered the family into an early investment in Polaroid and expanded the Bronfmans’ oil holdings. In the early ’50s, Sam bought a stake in western Canada’s Royalite. “If it’s good enough for the Rockefellers, it’s good enough for us,” he liked to say. In the following decade, Edgar convinced him to invest in the Oklahoma-based Forrest Oil and to create an exploration firm, Frankfort Oil. And in 1963, Seagram purchased Texas Pacific Coal and Oil for $65 million.

When it came to maximizing their profits, the Bronfmans demonstrated a near mania for minimizing taxes. Sam was adept at exploiting the fact that Seagram had both US and Canadian operations, claiming to be based in one country or the other depending on the tax advantage. When Charles secured an extraordinary advance tax ruling in 1991 to transfer a family trust worth $2.2 billion out of Canada without paying taxes–saving the family $750 million–it became a government scandal.

Restless at Seagram, Edgar yearned to be in the film industry, which he called “uniquely satisfying.” In the mid-1960s, Cemp cashed out its position in Polaroid for $20 million, and Edgar reinvested the money in Paramount Pictures, giving Cemp nearly a third of the studio’s stock. It was a remarkable stake at a bargain price. But Mr. Sam was rarely willing to venture beyond what he already knew and thought the Paramount purchase insanity. “I don’t want you in the goddamned movie business,” he thundered at Leo Kolber, the financial advisor who oversaw Cemp. “We’ve got whisky. We’ve got real estate. We’ve got oil. What the hell else do you want?” At Sam’s insistence, the stock was unloaded in 1966 to Charles Bluhdorn, who used it as the cornerstone for his far-flung conglomerate, Gulf+Western, the predecessor to Paramount Communications.

Undeterred, Edgar made a second bid to get into the film business through Cemp two years later, agreeing to buy a 15 percent stake in Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer at a premium. Once again, Sam was less than impressed. “Tell me, Edgar,” he said. “Are we buying all this stock in MGM just so you can get laid?” Edgar was unfazed. “No, Pop. It doesn’t cost $40 million to get laid.”

Though smitten with the entertainment business, Edgar had also gone into the MGM deal with a bigger target. He knew that Time Inc. had quietly been acquiring MGM stock and he hoped to buy a controlling interest in the studio and merge the two companies–a prescient move that would have predated Time’s 1989 merger with Warner Communications by twenty-one years. By the following year he’d accumulated enough stock to become MGM’s chairman, but he was forced out three months later when Las Vegas developer Kirk Kerkorian amassed a 25 percent block. When Edgar made the mistake of attending comedian Don Rickles’s show at a Hollywood nightclub, the put-down king quipped, “Hey, there’s Edgar Bronfman! He was chairman of MGM for five whole minutes!” Cemp eventually sold out its position for a $10-million loss, but Edgar held on to a block of personal shares and claimed a profit when Kerkorian built the MGM Grand Hotel.

Denied a studio, Edgar formed Sagittarius Productions in 1967 to make movies for domestic television and foreign theatrical release and wound up compiling a better-than-respectable track record: a biography of union organizer Joe Hill won the Jury Prize at Cannes in 1971, and an animated version of E. B. White’s children’s classic, Charlotte’s Web, has enjoyed a long and profitable life on television and home video. On Broadway, the company produced 1776 and The Me Nobody Knows.

In 1971, with Edgar finally and firmly at the helm of Seagram, Sam died of prostate cancer. Edgar’s younger brother, Charles, by then cochairman, saw their father’s passing as a rare opportunity to exorcise the greed and intrafamilial rivalries that had characterized Sam’s consolidation of power. He seemed genuinely mortified by Sam’s shabby treatment of his brothers and sisters and, either out of morality or self-interest, didn’t want family history repeating itself. In contravention of Jewish tradition, which expressly forbids revisiting a grave until a week after the burial, Charles convinced Edgar to return the day after their father’s funeral and swear an oath that the business would never split the family. Edgar’s reaction to his father’s passing was a bit less introspective if no less dramatic. As in his professional life, Edgar had been forced to make certain personal choices in order to remain in his father’s good graces. As soon as Sam was in the ground, he began a second adolescence.

“I had been unhappy for some time,” he said of his marriage, which had produced five children, of which Edgar Jr. was the second. “While Father was alive, however, I couldn’t bring myself to consider divorce, knowing how strongly he would disapprove.” Indeed, Edgar had always styled himself something of a swinger and with Sam’s death all bets were off. He and Ann split, and Edgar embarked on a bizarre and rapid series of romantic adventures. He married four times over the next two decades–including twice to the same English barmaid and once to the very unladylike Lady Carolyn Townshend, who, despite having been his employee and mistress, reportedly told friends on the eve of their wedding that she was only marrying Edgar for his money and would never have sex with him after they’d taken their vows, a promise she apparently kept. The humiliating story lit up society columns from New York to London. But even worse was the revelation that Bronfman had happily granted Townshend’s request for a phenomenally generous premarriage agreement and reportedly handed over his Westchester estate, $115,000 worth of jewelry, and $1 million in cash. He was forced to seek an annulment to recover the gifts and a semblance of pride.

A potentially far more tragic event was resolved when Sam II, Edgar’s eldest son, was kidnapped in August 1975. The family paid the ransom, and he was returned unharmed. The events took a more bizarre twist when Sam’s captors were apprehended and proved to be acquaintances. At their trial, the two men claimed not only that Sam was in on the kidnapping, but also that he’d had an ongoing sexual relationship with one of them. Though Edgar and the family vehemently denied the story, it apparently found some traction with the jury: the defendants were convicted of extortion, but not of kidnapping.

While Edgar was experiencing the mother of all midlife crises, Seagram’s stock price was slipping, and it fell largely to Charles to keep things going. But he was still based in Montreal where a good deal of his time went to managing his new baseball team, the Montreal Expos. Minda, in France and still smarting at being passed over by Sam, flew to Montreal and proposed to Leo Kolber that they use the Cemp shares in Seagram to oust Edgar as chairman. Though Kolber was no fan of Edgar, he feared the impact a palace coup could have on Seagram, particularly its stock, and demurred.

Edgar’s continuing hunger to prove the old man wrong would ultimately diversify and reinvigorate Seagram. By the early ’80s, Seagram’s stake in Texas Pacific was worth $566 million. Yet the capital-intensive nature of the business and the fact that oil now accounted for a sizeable percentage of the liquor company’s earnings appeared to make Edgar nervous: he said he feared that the Texas Pacific Coal and Oil tail was wagging the Seagram dog. In 1980, after the Iranian revolution created an oil shock and sent crude to $30 a barrel, Edgar saw an opportunity to sell out Seagram’s oil stake, arguing that any company with American oil reserves was likely to fetch a premium. He was right. The following year they unloaded Texas Pacific to Sun Oil for $2.3 billion, clearing over $2 billion in profits.

Seagram now had the best kind of problem: what to do with all that cash. Though he had argued that Texas Pacific was taking Seagram away from its core business, Edgar had no interest in plowing those profits back into the operation. His prior Hollywood adventures testified to his ambivalence to liquor, and he hired banker Felix Rohatyn of Lazard Frères to scout new opportunities. After mounting an unwelcome and unsuccessful takeover bid for the mining firm St. Joseph Lead, Edgar’s next target was Conoco. Investment banker Mark Millard, who had shepherded the Bronfmans in and out of their investment in Texas Pacific, noticed that a small Canadian firm, Dome Exploration, had made a tender offer for a portion of Conoco, intending to swap the stock back for the company’s Canadian oil and gas holdings. When Dome’s offer was wildly oversubscribed, Millard deduced that Conoco’s stock–already selling relatively cheap–was ripe for acquisition. Edgar and Charles met with Conoco’s CEO, Ralph Bailey, and offered to acquire 25 percent with a five-year standstill agreement. But Bailey had been making plans of his own, talking quietly with DuPont about an outright purchase of Conoco. He listened politely to the Bronfmans but said he wasn’t interested. Nevertheless, two days later, Seagram made a tender offer for Conoco.

DuPont and Mobil also made offers, and Conoco accepted DuPont’s offer of $97 a share. Then, in an inspired move, Seagram found a way not just to get to the table, but also to wind up with a sizeable stake in DuPont–a far better prize than Conoco.

DuPont’s offer was to be paid in cash and stock, but Seagram suspected that the arbitrageurs holding most of Conoco’s stock would be willing to take a bit less for all cash, and offered $92. The name of the game was to acquire at least 20 percent, which would enable Seagram to consolidate the earnings into their own financial statements. In July 1981, they wound up with just over 20 percent of Conoco–and promptly accepted DuPont’s swap offer.

It was a triumphal moment for both Seagram and Edgar. Seagram’s stake in DuPont would eventually grow to 25 percent, largely due to an aggressive DuPont buyback plan that shrank the pool of available stock. Edgar had engineered a world-class deal that redefined the Bronfmans as more than booze barons and promised to make the already formidable family fortune secure beyond his father’s dreams. And it allowed Edgar Sr. to finally lay his most insistent ghost to rest. As Leo Kolber put it, DuPont was the kind of prize that “would have had your father dancing in the streets.”

The upheavals of Edgar Bronfman Sr.’s midlife crisis were the markers of Edgar Bronfman Jr.’s adolescence: he turned sixteen in 1971, the year his parents divorced, and twenty the summer of his brother’s abduction. Like his own father, who felt closer to the chauffeur than to his parents, Edgar Jr. was left largely on his own through much of his adolescence, and he had a reputation as a spoiled kid. Arriving for an interview at a New Hampshire boarding school, he was asked by the headmaster if the man accompanying him was his father. “No,” he replied, “he’s my pilot.”

“My clearest memory is of him cheating on the tennis court,” says a former classmate at Manhattan’s Collegiate School. “You know, insisting shots that were out were in. I remember thinking, ‘He’s so fucking entitled–he thinks everything has to go his own way.’”

Within the splintered family, he tried to be a healer and remained devoutly loyal to his mother. His relationship with his father–though sometimes strained–never completely ruptured.

Indeed, it was his father to whom Edgar Jr. would owe his lifelong fascination with the entertainment business, and it was to Sagittarius Productions, his father’s entertainment company–and not school–that he gravitated. “From the time I was ten, I always knew–but always–that I would never go to college,” he said. “School bored me to death.” Indeed, by the time he was a senior at Collegiate, he was spending more time running the school’s switchboard than attending class. In his headstrong second son, Edgar Sr. saw a kid who knew how to “avoid what he didn’t want and get what he did. We sent him away to camp,” said Edgar Sr., “and he made it clear that wasn’t for him. Nor was he going away to prep school. Nor college.” Said his brother Sam: “Edgar was always older than his years. He wanted to be grown up.”

And why not? On his twenty-fifth birthday, Edgar Jr. would gain full access to a trust worth millions of dollars. It certainly couldn’t be argued that missing school and becoming a determinedly crude man had done Mr. Sam’s career much harm, and Edgar Sr. was, by his own admission, an executive who wasn’t interested in sweating the details. Similarly, Edgar Jr. would later claim that his grandfather had anointed him as the future leader of Seagram. “He was the one who first decided I was going to run the company, when I was fifteen,” Edgar said. It was part arrogance and part reality: the reality was that being a Bronfman meant living and breathing the business. The arrogance was in believing that you couldn’t fail.

While still in high school, Edgar picked up a script that had been sent to his father for financing, an Alan Parker project entitled Melody. Taken with the story, Edgar convinced his father to invest in the film – and got himself hired as an assistant to its producer, David Puttnam, who would produce Chariots of Fire and The Killing Fields and briefly run Columbia Pictures. He spent the next two summers in London living with Puttnam’s family and his father’s friends Apple Records president Ron Kass and his wife, actress Joan Collins. Unpretentious and earnest, Edgar made a good impression on his English hosts. “I wish the sons of our very rich families were like him,” Puttnam said, recalling that Bronfman pitched in around the house with chores and was “idolized by our kids.” Puttnam’s family hung Edgar Jr. with a nickname, Efer, a joking reference to an ad for eggs (“E for B–eggs for breakfast”). The name stuck.

Back in New York, Edgar showed a script he’d written to the Broadway producer Bruce Stark. Whether it was Efer’s precocity or his father’s bankroll, Stark liked the youngster well enough to agree to develop films and plays with him. Though nothing came of the partnership, it was an indication of the way the Bronfman name could open doors. He had a similar relationship with producer James Walsh, working first as a gofer on a rock opera, Soon, in which his father held a stake, and then, when he was twenty-two, investing in and producing another play with Walsh, the poorly received Ladies at the Alamo. After teaming with Stark, Edgar Jr. produced Terrence McNally’s 1978 play, Broadway, Broadway, with his father’s financial backing. But when it received poor reviews during tryouts in Philadelphia, Efer was summoned to a meeting in the back of his father’s limousine outside the theater and, an hour later, he closed the play. If it was easy to knock Edgar Jr. as a rich brat playing producer, it was just as easy to forget that he was working to establish himself in a highly competitive business that he felt passionately about rather than playing tennis until his trust fund came due.

After working on a television show featuring Dionne Warwick, Edgar began dating one of her friends, an African American actress named Sherri Brewer. The relationship didn’t please either family. When Edgar Sr. urged him to end it, Efer asked if his objections meant he could never become the head of Seagram. His father said they didn’t, and he hosted a small reception for the couple after they eloped to New Orleans in 1979.

Edgar Jr. moved to Hollywood, where the Bronfman name bought him meetings with Robert Redford, director Sydney Pollack, and Paramount Studios head Barry Diller, who would become a friend, sometime mentor, and eventually a business associate. Diller, the ambitious son of a successful Hollywood real estate developer, had skipped college and started in the William Morris mailroom, where he’d famously taught himself the rudiments of the entertainment business by reading the agency’s contract files. As someone who made his own luck, he recognized Edgar’s seriousness. “As a teenager I always acted older than I was,” Diller said. “You see that in someone else and you gravitate to it.”

At Universal, Bronfman produced The Border, the 1982 film that teamed actors Jack Nicholson and Harvey Keitel with the noted British director Tony Richardson. It was a mild dud. When music publishers Frank Military and Jay Morgenstern introduced Efer to songwriter Bruce Roberts, he took up writing song lyrics. “They put us together and we disliked each other instantly,” says Roberts. “He wrote a lyric that was extremely difficult to set and I thought, ‘Screw him, I’ll do it.’” Instead, the two quickly became friends, and their partnership survives still–“If he’s in Los Angeles, he’ll come out to the house and we’ll grind for an hour”–and has produced songs like “Whisper in the Dark” for Dionne Warwick and “In Your Arms” for Ashford and Simpson. Back then Edgar’s songwriting income was negligible. “I didn’t have much money at that age,” he said, claiming he lived on his per diem from Universal.

Following the premier of The Border, Edgar Jr. took his father to dinner at La Côte Basque in New York and confessed that he was fed up with being a producer. “From his standpoint, it wasn’t a ‘business,’” Edgar Sr. said. Sensing the moment was right, he invited his son to drop by the office the next day, at which point he asked him to come to work at Seagram.

The offer was hardly a surprise, but Edgar Jr. had nursed a dream of making his reputation as something more than the heir to Seagram. He never denied who he was–he’d used his father’s connections and worried that his marriage might preclude a chance to run the company–yet he craved validation of his own abilities. He hadn’t achieved it as a film or theater producer, and that was deflating. But in his father’s offer was the promise of a larger validation. He was paving the way for Edgar Jr. to become guardian of the family’s immense fortune. Wasn’t that a bigger and better stage for proving himself worthy of the Bronfman mantle of empire builders? He told his father he’d do it.

It would prove the first step in the dissolution of both Seagram and the Bronfman family.



2
The World’s Most Expensive Education


In 1982, Efer’s first job as Seagram’s anointed heir was special assistant to company president Phil Beekman. The twenty-seven-year-old already knew his father’s and uncle’s guiding principle: everything at Seagram, no matter how singular or closely tied to the Bronfman family legend, was for sale at the right price. Exhibit A was the landmark Seagram Building. In 1978, when the company had exhausted the building’s twenty years’ worth of tax advantages, Edgar Sr. and Charles unloaded it on a retirement fund for $75 million. For all the building’s fame as an architectural masterpiece, the sale was barely noted, which suited the family just fine. As Edgar Sr. liked to put it, Seagram was “a publicly held family business,” an oxymoron suggesting that the other shareholders should understand exactly whose interests would be served first.

Not surprisingly, Edgar Jr. was more precocious and a good deal less in awe of Beekman than the typical Seagram junior executive. Beekman discovered that his new assistant was less likely to carry out his decisions than to question them. After only three months, Edgar Sr. bailed out Beekman by asking Efer if he’d like to move to London to head the company’s smaller but promising European operation. “I’d kill for it,” he said. An amused and no doubt relieved Beekman suggested that that probably wouldn’t be necessary.

In London, the hot potato of guiding Efer was passed to Edward Francis McDonnell, the president of Seagram International. “I was very reluctant to take him,” McDonnell admitted, fearing that having a Bronfman at his shoulder would complicate his job. His fears proved ungrounded. McDonnell found him hardworking and serious. “After a few months I came to the conclusion that he was the youngest fifty-year-old I’d ever met,” he said. “He was part of the team. What he didn’t know, he asked about.”

Edgar helped expand the operation by championing the purchase of two British liquor retail chains and a German winery, and he became an advocate of emerging overseas markets like China and Southeast Asia. Within the year, he was lobbying to come back to New York and run the company’s flagship, the House of Seagram, the domestic liquor division. He got the job in 1984 and immediately hit the road to see the operation firsthand. What he saw didn’t cheer him.

The post-Prohibition liquor business had once looked limitless to Mr. Sam, but its best days were now behind it: hard liquor sales were down, wine sales flat. Edgar Jr. laid off 15 percent of the division’s employees and eliminated distributorships. In search of new products, he sank millions into an advertising campaign for Seagram wine coolers featuring the actor Bruce Willis that catapulted the company from fifth to first place in that niche market. But the success proved short-lived and within a decade the category had all but disappeared.

Among his executives, Efer was respected for his transparency and hard work, but he was producing decidedly mixed results: he’d trimmed costs and tried new products but failed to invigorate Seagram’s liquor business. In truth, his track record was inconsequential, since the only person whose opinion really mattered was Edgar Sr. As chairman and CEO, his public position was that “nobody comes to work here thinking they’re in line to be chief executive,” but the reality was quite different. Edgar Sr. had only achieved complete executive autonomy with his father’s death in 1971, but he was already looking for the exit when he pulled Efer on board a decade later. The stewardship of Seagram had to be pried from Mr. Sam, but Edgar Sr. seemed in a hurry to hand the company off to his own son. Indeed, when Efer joined Seagram, Edgar Sr. informed his oldest son, Sam, that he intended to pass him over and give Seagram to Edgar Jr. “You’re good,” explained his father, “but an unfortunate fact of your life is that you’ll always be compared with your brother. And as my successor, he’s better.”

The blunt rejection stung. But it was civil compared to Edgar Sr.’s blindsiding of his brother, Charles, who learned the company was being turned over to Efer when he read about it in Fortune magazine. Charles was furious: he had his own son, Stephen. As vice chairman, he had to sign off on the pick, but Edgar Sr. had short-circuited any debate by announcing it as a done deal. Nevertheless, he’d staked his whole life on being the family peacemaker and couldn’t bring himself to do more than complain privately to his brother. It was likely the kind of timid response Edgar Sr. had expected if he considered his brother’s reaction at all.

Charles’s good friend Leo Kolber, the family advisor and Seagram board member, was far less circumspect. “Edgar was mesmerized by his son,” he said. “There’s no other way to describe it. Edgar Jr. is a very nice man, very diffident, a good listener, and not a show-off in any sense of the word. He is anything but stupid. But he had no business running Seagram, and if he hadn’t been named Bronfman, he wouldn’t have been.”

Following the brief Sturm und Drang, Efer’s ascension took on an almost leisurely pace. He joined the Seagram board in 1988 and was named president and COO of Seagram the following year–a title he held until being named CEO in 1994. As chairman, Edgar Sr. did his best to mend fences with Sam and Charles, admitting that his use of the press to preclude any serious discussion of succession was “a huge mistake.”

“What I should have done, of course, was discuss the issue with my brother, Charles, then with Efer and Sam,” he said, before adding a litany of excuses including conflicted feelings, an aversion to confrontation, and poor planning. “If there’s anything to be said in my defense, it is that I didn’t extend the drama over succession, as Father did. I blundered badly, but never did I try to manipulate my sons to increase my own sense of importance.”

Whatever excuses he proffered regarding his mismanagement of the succession, Edgar Sr. showed an earnest desire to let his own son lead the company without undue constriction or fealty to the past. That was admirable, but it was not hard to see the repudiation of his own father and the humiliations and frustrations he’d suffered in his shadow, particularly in his deals for Paramount and MGM, in the quick carte blanche he gave Efer to remake the company to his liking. He fancied himself a tough master, but Edgar Sr. seemed incapable of believing he himself or his son could make a real miscue. And with 38 percent of Seagram’s stock under Bronfman control, all other shareholders could either accept dynastic rule or sell.

Leo Kolber thought Edgar Sr. “mesmerized” by his son, but he was actually responding to his own perceived reflection. Edgar saw in Efer all the attributes he believed he himself possessed: confidence, style, command, good looks, “a lady-killer.” Yet his son had an earnest and even quixotic streak that, if not completely alien to Edgar Sr., did not define his personality.

That earnestness had two sides. On one, Efer was a sentimentalist. Divorced in ’91, he wooed his second wife, Clarissa, by sending her two dozen roses and orchids every day for years. As a songwriter, his tastes and standards were those of a hack, his lyrics unapologetic adolescent syrup. But as a businessman, he was serious, unpretentious, open to counsel, and hardworking, eager both to accept the responsibility and determined to be proven worthy of the office, even if he had received it as a birthright. “It bothers me when people do a bad job and there are no consequences,” Edgar said. He made it a point to visit every Seagram operation worldwide and spent half his first year as COO on the road–certainly not something the employees would have expected from his father–and visited Seagram operations in twenty-six countries in 1992 alone. Back in New York, he mounted a photograph of his grandfather behind his desk, along with the old empire builder’s most famous and relevant charge: “Shirtsleeves to shirtsleeves, fortunes have come and gone. I’m worried about the third generation.” As Edgar, with his father’s approval, set about to remake Seagram in his own image, the words hung there like the sword of Damocles.

The problems that Seagram faced in the 1990s were new. Sam Bronfman had the great good fortune to be in the whisky business in Canada when the US Congress shut down his American competitors. Edgar Jr. was forced to make his own luck, and he tried to tailor Seagram to a maturing marketplace. In 1987, he purchased Martell, the two-hundred-year-old cognac firm, for $1.2 billion as part of a dual strategy to take Seagram upscale and make inroads in the Far East, where the brand was particularly well regarded. A few years later he sold nearly two dozen of the company’s “bar brands” such as Calvert whisky, Wolfschmidt vodka, Ronrico rums, and Leroux cordials, and became the distributor for Sweden’s increasingly popular top-shelf vodka, Absolut. The emphasis on higher-margin brands worked: in 1996, Seagram posted record profits for North America even though sales were down by 2 percent.
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